Filed
Washington State Supreme Court

92780-4

FEB 1 6 2016

No. 72613-7-1

Ronald R. Carpenter Clerk

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I, IN THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

BENJAMIN C. ARP,

Respondent,

v.

JAMES H. RILEY and "JANE DOE" RILEY, husband and wife and the marital community composed thereof; and SIERRA CONSTRUCTION CO., INC. a Washington State Corporation,

Petitioners.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Philip A. Talmadge, WSBA #6973 Talmadge/Fitzpatrick/Tribe 2775 Harbor Avenue SW Third Floor, Suite C Seattle, WA 98126 (206) 574-6661

A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

James H. Riley and "Jane Doe" Riley, husband and wife and the marital community composed thereof; and Sierra Construction Co., Inc., ("Sierra"), ask this Court to accept review of the Court of Appeals' decision terminating review set forth in Part B.

B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

The Court of Appeals filed its published opinion on December 28, 2015. A copy of that opinion is in the Appendix at pages A-1 through A-17.

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Did the Court of Appeals err in failing to conclude that a person seeking the protection of bankruptcy had a duty under the Bankruptcy Code to disclose assets so when that person deliberately refused to disclose the existence of a state lawsuit that would potentially constitute a basis for his creditors being paid, was that person judicially estopped under well-recognized principles of Washington law to pursue such an action by virtue of that person's inequitable behavior?
- 2. Did the Court of Appeals err in failing to conclude that a debtor in a Chapter 13 proceeding failed to disclose the existence of a state court personal injury action to the bankruptcy court, as required by Chapter 13 so that the debtor lacks standing to bring an action on behalf of the bankruptcy estate when the debtor is pursuing the action for his own, personal benefit?
- 3. Did the Court of Appeals err in establishing a new, higher evidentiary burden on those asserting a claim of judicial estoppel?

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Court of Appeals opinion sets forth the facts herein. Op. at 2-3. Certain undisputed facts, however, bear emphasis. On July 22, 2008, Benjamin Arp filed a petition for voluntary bankruptcy under Chapter 13 in the U.S. Bankruptcy Court for the Western District of Washington in 08-14588. CP 67, 147-52, 373. At that time, Arp had an ongoing duty to disclose all his personal assets, including any potential personal injury action. 11 U.S.C. § 521. Arp initially attempted to satisfy this duty by filing a personal property schedule, Schedule B, which listed his personal property that existed when he filed for bankruptcy. CP 219-21. Arp also exempted \$380,000 of his assets, which had the effect of making those assets unavailable to his creditors. CP 222. Despite these substantial holdings, Arp sought a discharge of \$113,347 of his unsecured debts. CP 243.

In an attempt to ensure his eventual debt forgiveness, Arp's bankruptcy attorney filed a proposed Third Amended² Chapter 13 plan, in which he proposed to pay \$100 a month for three years toward his debts. CP 101. On December 17, 2009, the bankruptcy court confirmed Arp's Third Amended Chapter 13 plan. CP 114, 154, 323, 373, 416. At the

¹ All subsequent statutory references are to Title 11 of the United States Code.

² Arp proposed two prior Chapter 13 plans, which, upon objections, were not confirmed.

same time, the bankruptcy court imposed explicit disclosure and reporting requirements on Arp.³

Arp *conceded* below that the bankruptcy court's confirmation order required him to disclose any "change in circumstances" that could affect his ability to make plan payments or justify an amendment to his plan. RP 6-7. Division I agreed. Op. at 13-15.

While his bankruptcy was still pending, Arp was involved in a motor vehicle accident with Sierra on October 5, 2010. CP 10, 373. Arp's motor vehicle accident and his attendant claim against multiple defendants, including Sierra, are a significant change in his circumstances. CP 9-12. Despite this change in circumstances, it is undisputed that Arp did not disclose to the trustee, the bankruptcy court, or his creditors that he had a cause of action against any party based on the alleged accident. CP 67-112, 157-202, 276-321; RP 12. Arp did, however, send a demand and settlement letter to James Riley on March 25, 2011. CP 264.

³ 4. That the debtor shall inform the Trustee of any change in circumstances, or receipt of additional income, and shall further comply with any requests of the Trustee with respect to additional financial information the Trustee may require;

^{6.} That during the pendency of the plan hereby confirmed, all property of the estate, as defined by 11 U.S.C. § 1306 (a), shall remain vested in the debtor, *under the exclusive jurisdiction of the Court*, and further, that the debtor shall not, without specific approval of the Court, lease, sell, transfer, encumber or otherwise dispose of such property;

CP 114, 154, 323, 373, 416 (emphasis supplied).

Following his alleged accident, Arp continued to make regular \$100 plan payments for approximately 10 months. CP 205. But, after August 2011, he ceased making any payments. CP 205. After Arp failed to make three months of plan payments, the trustee moved to dismiss Arp's bankruptcy. CP 205, 373.

On January 10, 2012, 15 months after his alleged cause of action accrued and 10 months after he sent his first settlement and demand letter for this case, Arp filed a response in opposition to the trustee's motion to dismiss stating:

[Arp] was involved in an automobile accident on October 5, 2010. The accident was serious enough that Ben Arp received significant brain injuries which has [sic] resulted in significant short-term memory loss. No doubt as a result of this accident, [Arp] has "forgotten" to make his Chapter 13 plan payments.

CP 116, 208, 264. Arp also included an affidavit stating the accident was not his fault. CP 118, 210. Arp *concedes* he did not disclose that he had a potential third-party action against Sierra or any other defendant. RP 12.⁴

⁴ Jeffrey Wells, Arp's bankruptcy counsel, submitted an affidavit below explaining his communications with Arp at the time of the trustee's motion to dismiss. CP 410-14. Wells testified that he contacted Arp regarding Arp's failure to make plan payments and Arp informed Wells of his alleged injury. CP 410-14. Wells further testified that Arp informed him that "no offers of settlement or offers of payment for any potential claim had been received." CP 413. Wells's affidavit notably omitted any reference to the fact that Arp had already sent a demand letter regarding this action. *See* CP 264. The record does not indicate whether Wells intentionally omitted this fact, or whether Arp did not inform Wells that he had sent a demand letter. Either way, it is undisputed neither Arp nor Wells informed the bankruptcy court that Arp had previously sent a demand letter based on the same alleged motor vehicle accident.

The bankruptcy court denied the trustee's motion to dismiss and subsequently entered an order discharging *over \$113,000* of Arp's unsecured debts. CP 120, 243, 374, 445. As of the date of this filing, Arp still has not notified the bankruptcy court or trustee of the existence of the underlying case or this appeal. CP 67-112, 157-202, 276-321.

After receiving a discharge of his debts, Arp filed the present action against Sierra and other defendants. CP 374, 445. The trial court dismissed Arp's action on summary judgment, first concluding that Arp had an ongoing duty to disclose his assets throughout his bankruptcy, CP 344-75, 445-46, and rejecting Arp's claim he had properly disclosed this case in his opposition to the trustee's motion to dismiss. CP 375, 445-46. The trial court found Arp's response in opposition to the trustee's motion to dismiss Arp's bankruptcy for failing to make numerous months of plan payments "cannot fairly be considered the type of notice required by the confirmation order." CP 374-75, 445-46. The trial court then ruled that Arp was judicially estopped from maintaining a cause of action he had failed to disclose during bankruptcy, and also held Arp lacked standing as a result of Arp's breach of his ongoing duty to disclose this case. CP 375, 446.

On appeal, the Court of Appeals reversed the trial court's judgment, concluding that Arp had no duty to disclose the cause of action

under the Bankruptcy Code because it arose after confirmation of his bankruptcy plan and 11 U.S.C. § 1327 and determining Arp had standing in the case. Op. at 6-13.⁵

E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED⁶

Washington law on the application of judicial estoppel where a debtor fails to disclose the existence of a legal claim to a bankruptcy court as an asset and then seeks to pursue such a claim subsequently in a separate state or federal court action, is well-developed. However, the Court of Appeals' opinion is simply wrong in asserting that a Chapter 13 debtor like Arp has no statutory duty to disclose assets to the bankruptcy court, and concluding that Chapter 13 debtors "own" an undisclosed asset, conferring standing upon them to pursue that asset with the untoward

The court ruled that Arp had a duty to disclose the lawsuit imposed by the order confirming Arp's Chapter 13 plan and that Arp violated that duty for the purposes of judicial estoppel. Op. at 13-15. But the court also concluded that: (1) the record did not indicate the trial court considered whether the bankruptcy court accepted Arp's non-disclosure or if Arp benefited from his non-disclosure, nor did the record establish that the bankruptcy court accepted Arp's non-disclosure, and (2) the record did not establish the trial court "exercised individualized discretion" to decide whether to apply judicial estoppel prior to entering its order. *Id.* at 15-17. Sierra believes the Court of Appeals was correct in its reading of the bankruptcy court's order, although it is wrong about the trial court's decision-making.

 $^{^{6}\,}$ This Court is fully familiar with the criteria governing the acceptance of review under RAP 13.4(b).

⁷ See, e.g., Anfinson v. Fed Ex Ground Package System, Inc., 174 Wn.2d 851, 864-65, 281 P.3d 289 (2012); Arkison v. Ethan Allen, Inc., 160 Wn.2d 535, 538-39, 160 P.3d 13 (2007); McFarling v. Evaneski, 141 Wn. App. 400, 171 P.3d 497 (2007); Kee v. Evergreen Professional Recoveries, Inc., 2009 WL 2578982 (W.D. Wash. 2009).

effect of allowing a debtor like Arp to hide a significant asset from the bankruptcy court, trustee, and his creditors.

(1) The Court of Appeals Incorrectly Concluded that Chapter
13 Bankruptcy Debtors Have No Ongoing Statutory Duty
to Disclose Assets During the Entirety of their Bankruptcy

The Court of Appeals erroneously concluded that Chapter 13 debtors do not have an ongoing duty to disclose bankruptcy estate assets following confirmation of the Chapter 13 plan and such debtors take complete title to post-confirmation assets under § 1327. Review by this Court is warranted to prevent debtors from concealing assets during bankruptcy and to safeguard the right of Washington creditors to recover claims during bankruptcy through modification of the Chapter 13 plan. Moreover, if the Court of Appeals' decision is permitted to stand, Washington's interpretation of Chapter 13 would be contrary to that of other jurisdictions on these important principles of bankruptcy law. RAP 13.4(b)(4).8

(a) <u>Chapter 13 debtors have a statutory duty to disclose post-confirmation assets</u>

The most fundamental mistake in the Court of Appeals' decision is its conclusion that Chapter 13 debtors have no duty to disclose any assets

⁸ It is not uncommon for this Court to grant review to correct an erroneous discussion of the law in a published Court of Appeals opinion. For example, in *Washburn v. City of Federal Way*, 178 Wn.2d 732, 310 P.3d 1275 (2013) this Court granted review of a Court of Appeals decision that incorrectly treated the law on the necessity of CR 50 motions to preserve a legal issue for appellate review. This Court then affirmed the Court of Appeals' decision on the merits of the case.

that arise after the confirmation of a Chapter 13 plan. The court based its holding on § 1327, which states that the bankruptcy estate assets "vest" in the debtor upon confirmation. The court concluded that a debtor has no duty to disclose assets vested in the debtor, so the debtor has no duty to disclose any assets that arise after confirmation.

That conclusion is wrong for three reasons. First, § 1306 states that the bankruptcy estate in a Chapter 13 case grows throughout bankruptcy to include all assets the debtor acquires until the bankruptcy closes, which includes post-confirmation assets. At the same time, § 521

Chapter 13 bankruptcies involve an ongoing reorganization between the debtor, trustee, and creditors. Like Chapter 7 debtors, a bankruptcy estate containing all the debtor's assets is created at the time a Chapter 13 debtor files for bankruptcy. §§ 541, 1306. But, unlike Chapter 7 bankruptcies, a Chapter 13 bankruptcy is not static, and instead grows to include all assets the Chapter 13 debtor acquires during the pendency of the bankruptcy, as set forth in § 1306.

Also, Chapter 13 debtors pay their creditors through confirmation of a Chapter 13 payment plan, which provides that the debtor will pay a certain sum of cash and/or assets monthly to the debtor's creditors for a specific amount of time. Importantly, creditors and the trustee can, and do, object to any plan the debtor proposes that does not require the debtor to pay a sufficient amount toward satisfying the debtor's outstanding debts. The initial Chapter 13 plan represents an informed compromise between the parties to the debtor's bankruptcy whereby the creditors agree to accept a reasonable sum of money or assets in exchange for forgiving some of the debtor's debts, and the debtor agrees to turn over some assets each month in exchange for debt forgiveness.

Chapter 13 bankruptcies are also unique in that the debtor, trustee, and creditors can seek to modify the terms of the Chapter 13 payment plan at any time prior to the final plan payment if the debtor acquires new assets. The bankruptcy code specifically permits the bankruptcy court to modify the terms of the Chapter 13 plan at any time prior to the final plan payment being made. § 1329. The importance of the ability to modify a Chapter 13 plan cannot be overstated because it permits the court to modify the Chapter 13 plan to require the debtor to pay a higher monthly payment or to turn over specific assets if the debtor acquires any new assets during the course of the bankruptcy, including after confirmation of the Chapter 13 plan. § 1329. As a result, any Chapter 13 plan is merely interlocutory in that it may be changed at any time if the debtor's circumstances or assets change during the bankruptcy.

requires debtors to disclose bankruptcy estate assets. Read in tandem, post-confirmation assets are property of the bankruptcy estate, which the debtor must disclose.

Second, the Court of Appeals' opinion incorrectly concluded that § 1327 relieves debtors of the duty to disclose post-confirmation assets because assets statutorily "vest" in the debtor upon confirmation. Under the Court of Appeals' construction, both bankruptcy estates assets existing at confirmation, and assets the debtor acquires after confirmation (such as Arp's cause of action), vest in the debtor. This ruling effectively means that the bankruptcy estate ceases to exist upon confirmation. But this construction is directly contradicted by § 1306, which states that the bankruptcy estate continues after confirmation and encompasses all assets the debtor acquires until the bankruptcy closes, is dismissed, or converted. In other words, under § 1306, and contrary to the court's ruling, the bankruptcy estate does not end at confirmation.

The Court of Appeals' approach also confuses "vesting" of an asset with "ownership" or "title" to the asset. Section 1327 grants debtors only *possession* of bankruptcy estate assets in existence at the time of confirmation; it does not remove those assets from the bankruptcy estate or grant the debtor exclusive title to the assets. *Valley Fed. Sav. Bank v.*

Anderson, 612 N.E.2d 1099, 1104 (Ind. App. 1993); In re Brensing, 337 B.R. 376, 383-84 (Bankr. D. Kan. 2006). 10

Third, the court's ruling is incorrect because it ignores that § 1329 grants the trustee, debtor, and creditors the ability to apply for modification of the debtor's Chapter 13 plan. The *only* reason for a creditor to request modification of the plan is if the debtor has acquired new assets following confirmation and can afford to make higher plan payments, or pay down a larger percentage of unsecured claims. But if the debtor has no post-confirmation duty to disclose assets, creditors would have no information on which to act in seeking modification. Thus, the Court of Appeals' construction of § 1327 renders meaningless § 1329, and also § 1306 after confirmation.

Ultimately, the Court of Appeals rested its decision on *Johnson v. Si-Cor Inc.*, 107 Wn. App. 902, 28 P.3d 832 (2001) and *Cunningham v. Reliable Concrete Pumping, Inc.*, 126 Wn. App. 222, 108 P.3d 137

1

bankruptcy estate assets at the time of confirmation, that fact would still not alter the propriety of the trial court's judgment because the cause of action here did not exist at the time of confirmation. Instead, Arp's alleged injury occurred, and his cause of action arose, 10 months *after* his plan was confirmed. As a long line of cases from virtually every jurisdiction have concluded in similar cases, confirmation cannot vest in a debtor a cause of action that does not exist at the time of confirmation. *See, e.g., Barbosa v. Solomon*, 235 F.3d 31, 37 (1st Cir. 2000); *Valley*, 612 N.E.2d at 1104; *In re Reynard*, 250 B.R. 241, 246 (Bankr. E.D. Va. 2000); *In re Holden*, 236 B.R. 156, 161 (Bankr. D. Vt. 1999); *In re Rangel*, 233 B.R. 191, 197-98 (Bankr. D. Mass. 1999); *In re Kolenda*, 212 B.R. 851, 855 (W.D. Mich. 1997); *In re Fisher*, 203 B.R. 958, 964 (N.D. Ill. 1997). The cause of action here never vested in Arp, and vesting does not confer exclusive title. As a result, and because Arp never disclosed the cause of action, the trial court correctly found that Arp lacked standing.

(2005), decisions that are in contrary to decision in virtually every other jurisdiction that hold Chapter 13 debtors have a duty to disclose post-confirmation assets.¹¹

The Court of Appeals' decision and the two cases on which it relies are based on an incorrect understanding of Chapter 13 and should be reviewed and reversed by this Court. The erroneous conclusion that Chapter 13 debtors have no post-confirmation duty to disclose actively injures Washington creditors and undermines Washington bankruptcy courts. Creditors are injured because the Court of Appeals' view essentially strips them of their ability to modify the Chapter 13 plan to increase plan payments in the event that debtor acquires additional assets during the plan period. Logically, a creditor cannot move to modify a plan based on the debtor acquiring new assets if the creditor never knew the

¹¹ E.g., In re Flugence, 738 F.3d 126, 129-30 (5th Cir. 2013); Kimberlin v. Dollar Gen. Corp., 520 Fed. Appx. 312, 315 (6th Cir. 2013); Rainey v. United Parcel Serv., Inc., 466 Fed. Appx. 542, 544 (7th Cir. 2012); In re Fridley, 380 B.R. 538, 543 (B.A.P. 9th Cir. 2007); Ajaka v. Brooksamerica Mortg. Corp., 453 F.3d 1339, 1344 (11th Cir. 2006); Martin v. Cash Exp., Inc., 60 So. 3d 236, 249 (Ala. 2010); Harrah v. DSW Inc., 852 F. Supp. 2d 900, 903 (N.D. Ohio 2012); Vaughn v. Metro. Gov't of Nashville & Davidson County, 3:12-CV-01320, 2014 WL 234200 at *4 (M.D. Tenn. Jan. 22, 2014); In re Wheeler, 503 B.R. 694, 697 (Bankr. N.D. Ind. 2013).

In recognizing a debtor's ongoing duty to disclose, courts have applied judicial estoppel when the debtor failed to amend her/her schedule and disclose a lawsuit acquired after confirmation of the Chapter 13 plan. *Kimberlin*, 520 Fed. Appx. at 314-15. *See also, Barbosa*, 235 F.3d at 35-37 (First Circuit); *Flugence*, 738 F.3d at 129-30 (Fifth Circuit); *In re Waldron*, 536 F.3d 1239, 1242-43 (11th Cir. 2008) (Eleventh Circuit). In fact, the First Circuit entertained and rejected the exact same argument made by Arp here: that § 1327 vests *post-confirmation* assets in the debtor at confirmation "free and clear from any claim or interest of any creditor." *Barbosa*, 235 F.3d at 36-37.

assets existed. Creditors will never know such assets exist if debtors have no duty to disclose. If the decision is left to stand, Washington creditors will lose their ability to modify Chapter 13 plans, in contravention of § 1329.

Perversely, while creditors would effectively lose the right to seek plan modification, debtors' right would remain intact. As the debtor would have full knowledge of his or her financial affairs, the debtor could always move to reduce the amount of plan payments if the debtor loses some of his or her ability to pay.¹²

Effectively preventing creditors from modifying Chapter 13 plans is also inconsistent with Ninth Circuit law on this same issue. In *Fridley*, *supra*, the Ninth Circuit rejected a Chapter 13 debtor's attempt to repay the entire balance of all outstanding plan payments in exchange for an immediate discharge. 380 B.R. at 544. The Ninth Circuit's express reason for denying the debtor's facially reasonable request was that doing so would have robbed the trustee and creditors of the ability modify the Chapter 13 plan to increase the amount of unsecured debt the debtor would be required to repay in light of the debtor's financial good-fortune

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