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

REASONS WHY THIS COURT SHOULD DENY REVIEW 

A. Sierra fails to challenge the legally sufficient bases for the 
appellate court's reversal, rendering review moot. 

As noted immediately above, the appellate court stated four 

independently sufficient grounds for reversal. Sierra challenges none 

of them. Thus, even if this Court were to accept review, it would have 

to affirm based on these unchallenged, independently sufficient 

grounds. The Court should therefore deny review. 

The most important of these unaddressed grounds is the 

appellate court's "unanswered serious questions about the equity of 

applying judicial estoppel to bar his claim." Opinion at 15. The record 

"does not show that the trial court exercised discretion to decide If 

allowing Arp to pursue his claim would affront the integrity of the 

judicial process." /d. at 16. Sierra never "offered any persuasive 

reason to believe the bankruptcy court would have change the relief 

It granted Arp" if- in addition to fully disclosing to the Trustee that he 

was seriously Injured in an accident that was not his fault - he had 

also said, "that Is a cause of action." /d. "The trial court erred in 

resolving the application of judicial estoppel as a matter of law on 

summary judgment." /d. And even if the trial court were to find no 

disputed facts, it must still exercise its discretion on whether allowing 

Arp to pursue his claim affronts the integrity of the judicial process. 
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B. There is no conflict with this Court's precedent. 

Although Sierra claims there Is a conflict with this Court's 

precedent, it cites no cases. Petition for Review (PFR) at 15-18. The 

appellate court cited this Court's relevant precedent, and applied the 

existing elements of judicial estoppel. Opinion at 4-14 (citing, inter 

alia, Arkinson v. Ethan Allen, lnc.,160 Wn.2d 535, 160 P.3d 13 

(2007)). It also noted that- as this Court has repeatedly held- those 

elements are not exclusive. /d. at 5 (citing New Hampshire v. Maine, 

532 U.S. 742, 121 S. Ct. 1808, 149 L. Ed. 2d 968 (2001)). There is 

no conflict with this Court's precedent. 

Sierra argues the appellate decision increases the "burden" 

on defendants asserting judicial estoppel to avoid liability for their 

indisputable negligence. PFR at 16. On the contrary, the appellate 

court simply notes that no undisputed evidence establishes the 

elements of judicial estoppel. Opinion at 15-16. This Issue was 

improperly decided on summary judgment. !d. This Court should 

deny review to permit a proper evidentiary hearing so that the 

relevant elements can be properly examined. 

C. There is no conflict with other appellate decisions. 

Sierra also asserts a conflict with other Court of Appeals 

decisions. PFR at 18-19 (citing Harris v. Fortin, 183 Wn. App, 522, 
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530, 333 P.3d 556 (2014); Skinner v. Holgate, 141 Wn. App. 840 

850, 173 P.3d 300 (2007)). Sierra asserts that a discharge of any 

sort constitutes acceptance of a contrary position taken by the 

debtor. Sierra is incorrect. 

As the appellate court notes, "Sierra identifies no evidence 

showing that the bankruptcy court accepted any inconsistent claim 

asserted by Arp when it granted him relief," allowing him to pay the 

last remaining $2,875.00 on his $154,336.42 wage-earners plan. 

Opinion at 16. Since the "bankruptcy court had already entered a 

confirmation order vesting in Arp ownership of assets he acquired 

after entry of the order, including his claim against Sierra" (Opinion 

at 16) there is no evidence- and no reason to believe- that anything 

different would have happened if, beyond telling the Trustee that he 

had been in an accident that was not his fault and injured him, he 

had also said, "that is a cause of action."4 Arp. never asserted that he 

had no cause of action. Sierra presented no undisputed evidence 

that the court accepted an Inconsistent position; rather, it merely 

4 Arp explained in his appellate briefing that by the common definition of 
"cause of action" -the facts giving rise to a claim - Arp disclosed his cause 
of action to the Trustee. See, e.g., BA at 26~27; Reply at 1, 5, 8 & n.2, 10-
12, 16-20. This issue is discussed Infra, in Arp's contingent cross petition. 
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accepted the truth: a collision had caused Arp to lose his memory 

and forget to make the last few payments through no fault of his own. 

In Skinner, Skinner held Interests In (1) a company and a 

building; (2) claims against several people; and (3) income and 

loans; but he disclosed none of this when he filed for bankruptcy. 141 

Wn. App. at 845. Unlike in this case (where Arp's claim was acquired 

post-confirmation, and where the confirmation order expressly 

vested all post-confirmation assets in Arp) Skinner had to list pre

filing assets on his initial bankruptcy schedules as assets of the 

bankruptcy estate. /d. at 848-49 (citing Cunningham v. Reliable 

Concrete Pumping, Inc., 126 Wn. App. 222, 230, 108 P.3d 147 

(2005)). Unsurprisingly, the court held that Skinner was judicially 

estopped from pursuing his undisclosed claims. /d. at 849-56. 

In Harris, the debtor affirmatively asserted to the bankruptcy 

court that a $400,000 promissory note had no value and was 

uncollectable. 183 Wn. App. at 524. Naturally, when the debtor tried 

to collect on the note nine months after his discharge, the courts held 

that he was estopped from pursuing the debt. /d. at 525, 530. Again, 

Harris is inapposite, where the bankruptcy code and confirmation 

order unequivocally vested Arp's claim in him, so he was not required 

to schedule a post-confirmation asset. Opinion at 10-13. 
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But the Harris analysis is Interesting and supports Arp. That 

court addressed three scenarios Involving pre-petition assets: (1) the 

debtor has the asset and fails to disclose It (see, e.g., Skinner); (2) 

the debtor has the asset and discloses it, but Its value is speculative 

(e.g., a personal injury claim) and the debtor later claims a higher 

value than he disclosed (see, e.g., Ingram v. Thompson, 141 Wn. 

App. 287, 169 P.3d 832 (2007)); and (3) the debtor has the asset 

and discloses it, but claims it has no value (see, e.g., Harris). 183 

Wn. App. at 528-29. In the first and third scenarios, the courts held 

that the debtor was judicially estopped. 

But this case Is more like the Ingram scenario. While even 

Ingram Is Inapposite because the asset was vested in Arp post

confirmation so he had no duty to disclose It under the bankruptcy 

code, here (as in Ingram) the asset was a personal Injury suit of 

speculative value. 141 Wn. App. at 288. Arp disclosed his cause of 

action -the facts giving rise to his claim - but did not assert its value 

one way or the other. If a debtor is not estopped when he makes an 

affirmative assertion that a claim is worth $X in bankruptcy, but later 

asserts It is worth $XXX, then a debtor who discloses an asset and 

says nothing about its value certainly should not be estopped. 

In sum, there is no conflict with any appellate decision. 
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D. There is no important issue that this Court should decide. 

As fully explained above, the Court of Appeals simply found 

that genuine issues of material fact precluded summary judgment 

and that the trial court had failed to exercise its discretion to consider 

whether it is equitable to apply judicial estoppel to bar this innocent 

victim's tort claim. It applied the appropriate precedents, considered 

the appropriate factors, and remanded for a proper hearing on the 

disputed issues. Review is unnecessary. 

Sierra's first argument for review (under RAP 13.4(b )(4 )) is 

that the Court of Appeals misinterpreted or misstated the bankruptcy 

code. PFR at 7-15. Sierra is Incorrect. It cites numerous inapposite 

bankruptcy decisions.5 Under the relevant code provisions and 

precedents, Arp had no duty to amend his schedules or to otherwise 

to bring this claim into the estate. Opinion at 6-13; BA 12-17. 

Specifically, 

5 See, e.g., Kimberlin v. Dollar Gen. Corp., 520 Fed. Appx. 312 (6th Cir. 
2013) (debtor conceded duty to disclose); In re Barbosa, 235 F.3d 31 (1st 
Cir. 2000) (property was originally part of the bankruptcy estate); and In re 
Waldron, 536 F.3d 1239, 1246 (11th Cir. 2008) (court expressly did "not 
hold that a debtor has a free-standing duty to disclose the acquisition of 
any property interest after the confirmation of his plan under Chapter 13. 
Neither the Bankruptcy Code nor the Bankruptcy Rules mention such a 
duty ... and our precedents ... do not address that issue"). 
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+ 11 USC § 541 captures all debtor assets at the time of filing, 
with a few exceptions, so does not capture Arp's personal~ 
injury claim, which arose years after filing; and 

+ 11 USC § 1327 provides that confirmation vested all estate 
property In Arp, unless the confirmation order provided 
otherwise; and 

+ 11 USC § 1306(a) captures all post~confirmation property 
Interests, including Arp's potential claims against Sierra; but 

+ the confirmation order specifically provides that all § 1306(a) 
property - including Arp's post~conflrmatlon property interest 
in this potential claim- "shall remain vested In" Arp, so It never 
became property of the estate. CP 114. 

Since the potential claim was not property of the estate, but rather 

property of the debtor, the trial court erred In applying judicial 

estoppel on the theory that Arp failed to disclose estate property -

Arp fully disclosed his cause of action,6 but he had no further duties. 

Sierra misstates the Court of Appeals' analysis, and then 

attacks Its own misconstruction, simply missing the point. PFR at 7~ 

10. As noted above, the confirmation order specifically says that all 

§ 1306(a) assets - that Is, all assets acquired post~confirmation -

shall remain vested In Arp. App. A (CP 114). His claim thus never 

became a part of the bankruptcy estate, and the bankruptcy code 

6 A "cause of action" Is the uground on which the plaintiff's case Is based." 
WEBSTER'S THIRD NEW INT'L DICTIONARY 356 (1993). That Is, a ugroup of 
operative facts giving rise to one or more bases for suing." BLACK's LAW 
DICTIONARY 251 (9th Ed. 2009). Arp thus disclosed his cause of action by 
stating that he was seriously Injured In an accident that was not his fault. 
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thus could not- and did not- require Its disclosure. That is, "Arp's 

plan and the confirmation order vested the Sierra claim in Arp." 

Opinion at 10. The Court of Appeals did not even err, which is not a 

ground for review In any event. 

Also. missing the point is Sierra's complete failure to address 

a key Washington case upon which the Court of Appeals rested .Its 

rejection of Sierra's analysis: Castellano v. Charter 

Communications, Inc., 2013 U.S. Dlst. LEXIS 164636 (citing and 

discussing Johnson v. Si-Cor, Inc., 107 Wn. App. 902, 28 P.3d 832 

(2001 )). Opinion at 10-12. Judge Bryant ruled that a debtor has no 

duty to schedule post-confirmation assets. Castellano, at *16-*19. 

As the Court of Appeals noted in this case, this analysis is consistent 

with Johnson and Cunningham, which both held that no duty exists 

to schedule post-confirmation assets. Opinion at 10-12. 

Consistent with its frequent misconstruction of precedents, 

Sierra asserts that Johnson and Cunningham are inconsistent with 

"virtually every other jurisdiction that hold [sic] Chapter 13 debtors 

have a duty to disclose post-confirmation assets." PFR at 11 (citing, 

inter alia, In re Flugence, 738 F.3d 126, 129-30 (51h Cir. 2013); 

Kimberlin, supra; Barbosa, supra; In re Wheeler, 503 B.R. 694, 

697 (Bankr. N.D. Ind. 2013)). It so argues despite both Arp and the 
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Court of Appeals explaining that these distinguishable cases do not 

so hold. See, e.g., Reply at 12~13 (Fiugence debtor sought post~ 

confirmation schedule amendment, but failed to disclose new assets 

as the code requires); 14 (Wheeler debtors affirmatively represented 

that they would not receive SSI benefits, but then failed to disclose 

tens of thousands of dollars in SSiincome); 17~18 (Barbosa property 

was originally part of the bankruptcy estate and subject to 

confirmation modification); 17 n.3 (Kimberlin debtor conceded duty 

to disclose); Opinion at 12~13 (Kimberlin does not support Sierra's 

claims). Sierra simply has no authority that requires disclosure by a 

debtor (like Arp) whose plan and confirmation order vest post" 

confirmation assets in the debtor. 

Similarly, in In re Waldron, the debtors effectively conceded 

that their post-confirmation cause of action was property of the estate 

by seeking Trustee permission to settle. 536 F. 3d 1239, 1241 (11th 

Cir. 2008). Waldron - like every other case Sierra cites - fails to 

address a confirmation order that says § 1306(a) post-confirmation 

assets remain vested in the debtor.7 Waldron does not help Sierra. 

7 The Waldron also noted that "'Congress ... intended ... that the debtor 
repay his creditors ... during the Chapter 13 period."' 536 F.3d at 1246 
(emphasis added; citations omitted). That period has long-since passed. 
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Sierra's final claim - never before raised - is that, "[b]ecause 

this cause of action Is property of Arp's bankruptcy estate, Arp only 

had standing if he was acting on behalf of the estate." PFR at 14 

(emphasis in original). Sierra's major premise- that this claim (which 

was a § 1306(a) post-confirmation asset) was estate property- is 

simply false. Sierra ignores the confirmation order's plain language 

(App. A, CP 114): 

6. That during the pendency of the plan hereby confirmed, all 
property of the estate, as defined by 11 U.S.C. section 
1306(a), shall remain vested in the debtor .... 

Sierra continues to assign significance to the next phrase 

("under the exclusive jurisdiction of the Court, and further, that the 

debtor shall not, without specific approval of the Court, lease, sell, 

transfer, encumber or otherwise dispose of such property"). But this 

language does not modify the plain meaning of the first clause. 

Rather, it simply says that the bankruptcy court retains jurisdiction 

over leasing, selling, transferring, encumbering, or otherwise 

disposing of§ 1306(a) assets. Note that it does not say acquiring. 

Since the confirmation order plainly vests all § 1306(a) post-

confirmation assets in Arp, nothing In the bankruptcy code required 

him to schedule this claim. The Court of Appeals is correct. This 

Court should deny review. 

17 



CONTINGENT CROSS-PETITION 

A. Identity of petitioner & relief requested. 

Ben Arp asks this Court to deny review. If, but only if, the Court 

grants review to Sierra, Arp asks the Court to also accept an issue. 

B. Issue presented for review & introduction. 

The Court of Appeals properly recognized that the 

confirmation order unequivocally vested all §1306(a) assets in Arp, 

so he was under no duty to disclose it. Opinion at 10 ("Arp's plan and 

the confirmation order vested the Sierra claim in Arp"); 13 ('The 

bankruptcy code [therefore] did not require that Arp amend his 

schedules to disclose his claim"). Yet it also held that the very same 

order required Arp to disclose his claim. /d. at 14. 

Courts do not issue Catch-22 orders. Rather, our courts must 

attempt to harmonize conflicting provisions. The appellate court read 

~ 6 correctly (it plainly vested this claim in Arp, so required no 

disclosure), but then unnecessarily read the vague phrase "any 

change in circumstances" in ~ 4 to contradict paragraph six, 

confusingly requiring Arp to disclose a post-confirmation asset that 

did not belong to the estate. It is a simple matter to harmonize these 

provisions, but the Court of Appeals did not even attempt to do so. 

This Court should reverse on this issue. 

18 



C. Argument why review should be granted. 

This Court has long held that court orders are interpreted (like 

statutes) under the usual rules of construction8 and that conflicting 

provisions should be harmonized whenever posslble. 9 

Yet the Court of Appeals held that the same confirmation 

order provides that Arp did not have a duty to disclose his claim to 

the bankruptcy court and that he did have a duty to disclose it. 

Opinion at 1 0~13, 14. Courts do not issue self-contradictory orders. 

Yet the Court of Appeals did not cite the relevant rules of construction 

or attempt to reconcile these two diametrically opposed readings. 

This published opinion thus conflicts with a great deal of existing 

precedent. RAP 13 .4(b )( 1) & (2).

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